FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/18/2023 8:00 AM

No. <u>102392-8</u> No. <u>57156-1-II</u> FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MR. RHETT GREENFIELD, AN INDIVIDUAL;

Petitioner

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW
OF DECISION OF COURT OF APPEALS

Mr. Rhett Greenfield
Petitioner, Pro Se
5231 S. Birmingham St., Apt. D
Tacoma, WA 98409
Email: rhett.greenfield@gmail.com

## PETITION OF MR. RHETT GREENFIELD,

### I. Identity of Petitioner

Mr. Rhett Greenfield, Petitioner representing himself *pro se*, files this petition for review.

### II. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioner seeks review of the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeals,
Division II in <u>Greenfield v. Dep't of Labor and Industries</u>, Case No. 57156-1-II. That
decision was filed on June 21, 2023. See Appendix A. An order denying a motion for
reconsideration was filed on August 17, 2023. See Appendix C.

#### **III.** Issues Presented for Review

Can nonprofit organizations in Washington State have unpaid interns without violating the Washington Minimum Wage Act (MWA)? What conditions must be met to exempt interns from the Act?

#### IV. Statement of the Case

This petition urges the Washington State Supreme Court to examine and apply the *primary beneficiary test* adopted in *Benjamin v. B & H Education, Inc.*, 887 F.3d 1139 (9th Circuit, 2017) to an unpaid internship Petitioner held in 2018. Applying that test shows the internship did not meet legal standards, and so was actually an employment relationship.

If I was an intern at the ACLU-WA as the Published Opinion says, the primary beneficiary test applies. If I was not an intern, then working there made me an employee and relevant wage laws apply. The Published Opinion admits I

was not a volunteer. Published Opinion at 21, *footnote*. However, it fails to classify me by any designation recognized within state employment law.

Designating me as having performed labor "gratuitously" is not properly defined in statute, has no evidentiary basis, and requires questionable, extra-legal justification. It is also preempted by the fact that I was an intern, since interns are expected to benefit in some tangible, material way.

Petitioner believes that the legality of unpaid internships within Washington State is "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The ruling issued by the Court of Appeals conflicts with Supreme Court decisions concerning the broad and remedial nature of basic wage protections. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The ruling also conflicts with at least one decision from the Court of Appeals, Division II. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

From March to December of 2018, I held an internship at the offices of the ACLU-WA in Seattle. See AAR 160, Section 4.10. See also AAR 356 - 358, AAR 577-579 and AAR 790 (Request for Admission, No. 1). While interviewing for the internship, an ACLU-WA staff member asked me why I wanted to *work* there. I said I wanted to work at the ACLU-WA on a full-time basis. I stated that I regarded the internship as a start within the organization that would eventually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> I do not have access to the Clerk's Papers sent to the Court of Appeals. One difficulty for me in this case has been the burden of paying court costs in addition to everything else involved in being a *pro se* litigant. I believe there are only a few pages difference between these records and have specified titles and sections of documents I cite whenever possible.

transition into employment. See AAR 160, Sections 4.14 - 4.15.

Before that interview, I submitted a separate job application to work as a "Legislative Session Aide" at the ACLU-WA. See AAR 159, Section 4.8. In other words, at the time of the interview, the organization had already received a job application from me expressing my desire to work there full-time. I never received an answer to that application. That prior application is evidence of my intention to work at the ACLU-WA offices before the internship. It also shows that the statements I made during the interview about why I wanted to work at the ACLU-WA were actually the second time I expressed my interest in eventually working at the ACLU-WA full-time.

I was accepted for the internship position. I began commuting from Tacoma to Seattle two days a week. I worked within the Seattle offices of the ACLU-WA for roughly eight hours each of those days. See AAR 356 - 358. See also AAR 577-579.

I held a part-time internship at the ACLU-WA as an "Intake Counselor" for a total of ten months, even though the description for the internship provided on the "Careers" section of the organization's webpage stated that the duration of the internship would be six months. See AAR 487 (Position Description Submitted to L&I Investigator). See also AAR 709 ("Exhibit A").

During those ten months, I inquired about full-time work several times,

speaking to my supervisor and submitting another job application to work there as a "Legal Assistant." See AAR 237-240 ("Exhibit E-3" from ACLU-WA). Staff at the organization continued to request that I arrive at the organization's offices to perform work as late as three to four months after the internship was supposed to have ended. I kept returning out of confusion as to why I had not been hired, and because I have a dedicated attitude toward my pursuits. See AAR 722-723 (Exhibit C). I eventually stopped returning after an indirect request voiced by my supervisor. By that point, it was December 2018. *Id*.

Uncertain what had happened given my clear, repeated attempts to obtain employment at the organization and never receiving a direct response from anyone at the ACLU-WA, I went on to submit two more job applications for full-time roles there. See AAR 160, Section 4-15. See also AAR 241 - 248 (ACLU-WA's "Exhibit E-3" and "Exhibit E-4"). Two out of the four full-time employment positions I applied for at the ACLU-WA were within the organization's legal department, involving work that would have been similar to the work I performed as an Intake Counselor. Only one of these applications received a response. That response was informal, from a peer acquaintance at the organization. There are no responses to the applications I submitted included within the record of this case.

As an Intake Counselor, I answered letters and phone calls from people contacting the ACLU-WA from across the state of Washington. See AAR 183. I

documented the calls within a word processing table and within a database. See AAR 183. I related the content of the calls to the cases of the attorneys on staff to determine whether the caller and their circumstances could be added to those cases. See AAR 183. See also AAR 720 ("Exhibit C"). When appropriate, I provided literature resources and referrals to legal aid organizations. See AAR 183. These are all ways in which the ACLU-WA benefited from my work. In any other organization, this sort of intake work would typically be performed by a paid legal assistant. I received no documented benefit.

My main reason for applying to and accepting the internship was to transition into full-time, paid employment within the ACLU-WA offices. There is objective documentation contained within the OAH record demonstrating the consistency of my intentions before, during, and after my internship. See AAR 232-248 (ACLU-WA Exhibits E-1, E-3, E-4, E-5). I also have personal knowledge that the majority of people who held internship roles as "Intake Counselors" at the ACLU-WA were college graduates such as myself, not students. I do not believe I was the only one who expected the role would lead to future employment opportunities at the ACLU-WA. See AAR 143-144, Section 2.2 (second paragraph).

Although confused and suspicious, I eventually realized I would never be hired and there had been no mistake. I did not arrive at this conclusion in haste.

Rather, I ruled out the possibility of a mistake through additional job applications. See AAR 185.

I filed a complaint about my experience with the Department of Labor and Industries in February, 2020. An exact copy of the L&I complaint form I submitted is contained within the case record. See AAR 356-357. See also AAR 710-711. It includes a brief statement that reads: "I worked at the ACLU-WA as an 'Intake Counselor,' an unpaid internship that I believed would lead to a full-time position at this specific employer. I was never paid, nor was I hired. None of this was consensual." See AAR 356. See also AAR 710. I also marked a checkbox in Section C of the complaint form indicating that other workers had been affected. See AAR 357. See also AAR 711.

My complaint was handled by investigator Debra Zach, who issued a Determination of Compliance in the ACLU-WA's favor on June 19, 2020. See AAR 272-274. I appealed that decision, resulting in a hearing before Judge Jane Shefler at the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) on April 28-29, 2021. See AAR 157-158. Judge Shefler affirmed the investigator's decision. See AAR 165.

I appealed Judge Shefler's proposed order on June 30, 2021. See AAR 154. See also AAR 141. On November 23, 2021, the Director's Office at the Department of Labor and Industries upheld the proposed order in a terse document containing absolutely no legal reasoning or explanation. See AAR 26 - 29.

I submitted a Petition for Reconsideration to the Director's Office on

December 1, 2021. See AAR 20-23. That petition was denied, once again without any rational explanation. See AAR 16-18.

I submitted a Petition for Review to Pierce County Superior Court on January 5, 2022. See AAR 2 - 10.

On July 11, 2022, a review hearing was held at the Superior Court. Judge Bryan Chushcoff was the presiding judicial officer. See Record 1505 - 1597.

After brief oral argument delivered by myself and Assistant Attorney General (AAG) Heather Leibowitz, Judge Chushcoff upheld the decisions made by the preceding agencies. *Id.* He did so on the basis of a single example of case law cited in the AAG's brief. He did not allow me to explain why this case law (involving how jurors are exempt to the MWA) was wholly irrelevant. There was no real engagement with any of the law I cited and explained. Nor was there any review of the evidence within the record.

This can be demonstrated by reviewing the transcript from the Superior Court hearing. See Verbatim Report of Proceedings. I do not have access to that document, so I cannot cite to an exact page within the Report of Proceedings. However, I believe information to support my claim lies toward the very end of that document, corresponding to the ending of the hearing.

I appealed Judge Chushcoff's order on August 3, 2022. See Record 1508 - 1512

The Court of Appeals, Division II issued a Published Opinion on June 21,

2023. The Published Opinion accepted several of my arguments, but was ultimately unfavorable, upholding the general finding that I had performed work for the ACLUWA on a "gratuitous" basis.

I submitted a Motion for Reconsideration on July 11, 2023. The motion advanced four arguments: (1) the Opinion afforded less weight to binding case law indicating that the MWA is to be given liberal construction than to a dictionary definition of the word "gratuitous" the judges arbitrarily selected, (2) the judges made several sweeping presumptions about my actions and circumstances that have no basis in the evidentiary record, (3) the judges accepted several claims made by ACLU-WA administrators and their attorney that have no supporting documentary or evidentiary basis, and (4) the judges completely misinterpreted the *primary beneficiary test* presented in *Benjamin* (and now presented in Administrative Policy, ES.C.2, *Hours Worked*, Section 7).

My Motion for Reconsideration was denied on August 17, 2023. Here we are.

## V. Argument

## A. <u>Standard for Discretionary Review</u>

The issues presented merit discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4 for three reasons.

First, discretionary review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision by the Court of Appeals conflicts with state Supreme Court decisions concerning the "broad" or "liberal" construction of RCW 49.46, as well

as the close correspondence between the Washington Minimum Wage Act (MWA) and the federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) of 1938.

Second, review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the decision made by the Court of Appeals conflicts with at least one earlier published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Third and finally, the issues presented in the present case are matters of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Washington Supreme Court

Authority Concerning the Construction and Application of the MWA

The Washington Supreme Court has interpreted RCW 49.46 in several cases relevant to the present proceedings. The Supreme Court has consistently held: (1) the definition of "employment" under the MWA is broad and remedial, (2) the basic categories and definitions of the MWA are derived from the FLSA, and (3) Washington courts may consider provisions of the FLSA as persuasive authority but, in the absence of clear state authority on an issue, FLSA standards provide "helpful guidance." In the present case, the decision from the Court of Appeals conflicts with these decisions made by the Supreme Court.

In the case *Anfinson v. Fedex Ground Package System, Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 281 P.3d 289 (2012), the state Supreme Court, in an *en banc* ruling, reasoned:

"The MWA [Minimum Wage Act] defines the term 'employee.' Under RCW 49.46.010(3), 'Employee' includes any individual 'employed by an employer' subject to multiple exceptions not relevant here. Under the MWA, '[e]mploy' includes 'to permit to work.' RCW 49.46.010(2). An '[e]mployer' is 'any individual or entity acting directly or indirectly in the interest of an employer in relation to an employee.' RCW 49.46.010(4). Taken together, these statutes establish that under the MWA, an employee includes any individual permitted to work by an employer. This is a broad definition." *Anfinson* at 867.

The legal definition of employment in Washington State is broad, including any individual who performs work for someone else, unless a valid exemption can be demonstrated.

In the same ruling, the Court continued:

"The MWA is remedial legislation. As remedial legislation, the MWA is given a liberal construction; exemptions from its coverage are narrowly construed and applied to situations which are 'plainly and unmistakably consistent with the terms and spirit of the legislation' [quoting Drinkwitz, 140 Wn.2d at 301, 996 P.2d 582] [...] A liberal construction, therefore, is one that favors classification as an employee [...] In sum, we hold that the definition of 'employee' in RCW 49.46.010(3) incorporates the economic dependence test developed by federal courts in interpreting the FLSA [Fair Labor Standards Act]." *Anfinson* at 870-871.

Three important conclusions emerge from *Anfinson*. First, exemptions to the state MWA are narrow since the definition of "employment" is broad and the MWA is remedial, protective legislation. Second, because of these broad legal protections, interpretations of "employment" as it relates to RCW 49.46 should favor classifying an individual as an employee whenever there is any doubt concerning classification. Third, Washington courts look to federal case law surrounding the FLSA to guide interpretation of state wage law.

The MWA's foundation upon the FLSA is explicitly stated in *Anfinson* at 868:

"We have repeatedly recognized that the MWA is directly based on the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938.' Stahl 148 Wn.2d at 885, 64 P.3d 10; see also Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc. 140 W.2d 291, 298, 996 P.2d 582 (2000). The definitions of 'employee' and 'employ' are functionally identical under the two acts. At least where there is no contrary legislative intent, when a state statute is 'taken 'substantially verbatim' from [a] federal statute, it carries the same construction as the federal law and the same interpretation as federal case law.' State v. Bobic, 140 Wn.2d 250, 264, 996, P.2d 610 (2000) [citations in original]."

An expansive body of statutes at virtually every level of law, in addition to state and federal case law, support this legal definition of employment and its broad application. Unless there is a *clear and unambiguous exemption*, a person performing labor for an employer is deemed to be an employee subject to the protections of the MWA. Washington courts look to the federal FLSA in order to interpret the MWA, since the MWA was directly based upon the FLSA when the MWA was established by the state legislature. This is the starting point for correct application of the law to the facts of this case.

Coupled with the definition of "employment" already presented above, the state Supreme Court's remarks in *Anfinson* indicate there is an overwhelming legal presumption that a person performing labor for someone else is an employee of that person.

The close relationship between the state MWA and the federal FLSA is further illuminated in another *en banc* ruling by the Washington State Supreme Court in *Inniss v. Tandy Corp.*, 141 Wn.2d 517, 7 P.3d 807 (2000).

In *Inniss*, the court clarified this legal relationship by stating:

"In 1975, the Legislature enacted RCW 49.46.130 to conform state minimum wage laws to the federal Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938." *Inniss* at 523.

It went on to add:

"When construing provisions of the Washington Minimum Wage Act, this Court may consider comparable provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 as persuasive authority." *Inniss* at 524.

The case *Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc.*, 140 Wn.2d 291, 996 P.2d 582

(2000), cited by the state Supreme Court in Anfinson, also warrants discussion.

In *Drinkwitz*, members of the court wrote:

"Because the MWA is based upon the FLSA, federal authority under the FLSA often provides helpful guidance. However, the MWA and the FLSA are not identical and we are not bound by such authority."

Drinkwitz at 298 [citations omitted]

The dissenting opinion, written by Justice Sanders, still drew upon the general symmetry between the MWA and the FLSA in presenting its reasoning:

"[T]he MWA is 'based upon' the FLSA, and therefore it is 'appropriate and helpful to refer to the approach used by the federal courts' whose analysis is 'helpful' and 'persuasive' even if not controlling on our interpretation. *Chelan County Deputy Sheriff's Ass'nv. Chelan County*, 109 Wn.2d 282, 291, 745 P.2d 1 (1987) [quotations and additional citations omitted] [...] It makes imminent sense to look to the substantially more developed body of federal law for guidance. That is probably why, given the dearth of Washington authority on the issue, the majority turned to federal materials for its entire analysis." *Id.* at 310.

#### Furthermore:

"Significant differences between state statutes and federal statutes will render federal case law inapplicable in interpreting the state statute, cf. *Martini v. Boeing Co.*, 137 Wn.2d 357, 372, 971 P.2d 45 (1999), but the practical

converse of that principle is nearly identical, and parallel state and federal statutes should be construed in harmony, absent state authority to the contrary." *Id.* at 312.

Although these statements are taken from the dissenting opinion in *Drinkwitz*, every justice on the court referred to the fact that the MWA is based upon the FLSA when presenting their reasoning. Federal rulings concerning the FLSA provide helpful guidance for interpreting the MWA, and may even be essential in circumstances where the MWA and state case law fail to address a particular issue. Every justice on the court agreed with at least the minimal version of this premise.

In summary: (1) the MWA, although not technically identical to the FLSA, is directly modeled upon it, (2) the FLSA provides at least persuasive authority in terms of how to interpret the MWA, (3) parallel state and federal statutes should be construed in harmony, absent state authority to the contrary, and (4) the definitions of "employee" and "employ" are "functionally identical" under the two acts. Where the MWA and the FLSA align, they have the same construction and are to be interpreted in the same way. See *Anfinson* at 868.

In the present case, the judges at the Court of Appeals have ignored these legal principles establishing the breadth of MWA protections and the close relationship between the MWA and the FLSA. Instead, they attribute more weight to a narrow clause within RCW 49.46.010(3)(d) indicating that the definition of "employee" does not include "[a]ny individual engaged in the activities of an [...] nonprofit organization [...] where the services are rendered to such organizations

gratuitously." Published Opinion at 21-22. They then plug a specious dictionary definition of the word "gratuitous" into this subsection of statute<sup>2</sup> to conclude that I worked at the ACLU-WA on a gratuitous basis. Published Opinion at 22. This has the effect of circumventing the legal protections granted by the MWA and explained in rulings by the WA Supreme Court. Their conclusion also lacks any basis in the evidentiary record.

# C. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with an Earlier Court of Appeals Decision

The Published Opinion claims that I worked for the ACLU-WA on a gratuitous basis. The main piece of "evidence" proffered for this claim is that I kept returning to the ACLU-WA offices across ten months without pay. *Id*.

However, "an employee does not 'knowingly submit' to unlawful withholding of wages by staying on the job even after the employer fails to pay." *Durand v. HIMC Corp.* 151 Wn. App. 818 (Wash. Ct. App. 2009) at 837, citing *Chelius v. Questar Microsystems*, 101 Wn. App. 678 (2001) [emphasis mine].

There is already reason to believe I was an employee of the ACLU-WA on the basis that I performed work for the organization. The claim that I was not an employee because I kept returning there contradicts the holding in *Durand*. My

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There is no clear rationale to favor the definition selected in the Published Opinion. It is not clear why the definition found in one dictionary should be selected over that found in another dictionary, nor is it clear that the judges' conclusion follows from the definition of the word "gratuitous" they selected. See Appendix B at 9-11.

citation to *Durand* has been challenged on the basis that I was not an employee, but that challenge uses circular reasoning. Notably, treating my return to the ACLU-WA offices across ten months as evidence of performing work "gratuitously" would result in labelling anyone who kept working under unclear or fraudulent circumstances as working "gratuitously," thereby contradicting the broad, remedial protections afforded by the MWA (discussed above).

D. Adopting Current Legal Standards for Unpaid Internships is an Issue of
 Substantial Public Interest that Should be Determined by the Supreme Court

This case stands as a representative example in a roughly decade-long trend of legal challenges to unpaid internships.

According to the plain language of the FLSA, unpaid internships would likely be categorically illegal, under the Act's general definition of an employee as 'any individual employed by an employer.' 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)(1).

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