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

IV. ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals’ analysis of the MWA’s nonprofit 

volunteer exemption neither conflicts with existing law nor 

raises any issue of substantial public interest. Because 
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Greenfield raises no issue warranting review, this Court should 

deny his petition. 

A. The Court of Appeals’ Routine Analysis Adheres to 

Traditional Statutory Interpretation Principles, 

Raising No Issue of Substantial Public Interest 

 The MWA exempts numerous workers from its 

requirements, and Washington courts have routinely been called 

upon to examine the extent of the statute’s coverage. At issue 

here is an explicit exemption for individuals who provide their 

services gratuitously to nonprofit entities like the ACLU. RCW 

49.46.010(3)(d). The exemption is unambiguous, and as the 

Court of Appeals properly determined, under the statute’s plain 

language, it expressly excludes nonprofit volunteers like 

Greenfield from the MWA’s coverage.  

Nothing about the Court of Appeals’ unremarkable 

analysis warrants this Court’s review. As is proper in statutory 

interpretation, the court first looked to the exemption’s plain 

language when determining its meaning. Greenfield, 27 Wn. 

App. 2d 28 at 44-45. The MWA’s “employee” definition 
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excludes “any individual engaged in the activities of . . . [a] 

nonprofit organization” when: (1) the individual’s services “are 

rendered to such organizations gratuitously” or (2) “where the 

employer-employee relationship does not in fact exist.” RCW 

49.46.010(3)(d).1 As the Court of Appeals explained, “[t]he 

disjunctive ‘or’ indicates there are two ways an individual 

might fall within the exemption: either when an employer-

employee relationship does not exist . . . or [when] an 

individual provides his or her services gratuitously.” 

                                           
1 RCW 49.46.010(3)(d) provides in full: 

 

Any individual engaged in the activities of an 

educational, charitable, religious, state or local 

governmental body or agency, or nonprofit organization 

where the employer-employee relationship does not in 

fact exist or where the services are rendered to such 

organizations gratuitously. If the individual receives 

reimbursement in lieu of compensation for normally 

incurred out-of-pocket expenses or receives a nominal 

amount of compensation per unit of voluntary service 

rendered, an employer-employee relationship is deemed 

not to exist for the purpose of this section or for purposes 

of membership or qualification in any state, local 

government, or publicly supported retirement system 

other than that provided under chapter 41.24 RCW. 
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Greenfield, 27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 49. Citing this Court’s recent 

decision in Rocha v. King County, 195 Wn.2d 412, 421, 460 

P.3d 624 (2020), the court explained that “[i]f one of the 

conditions is met, there is no need to address the other 

condition.” Id.  

The Court of Appeals then turned to whether the 

exemption applied to Greenfield, looking first to its second 

clause regarding persons who “gratuitously” provide their 

services. RCW 49.46.010(3)(d). Citing the dictionary, it noted 

that “[g]ratuitous” means “given freely or without recompense : 

granted without pay.” Greenfield, 27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 50-51 

(citing Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 992 

(2002)). The court explained that “Greenfield provided his 

services as an intake counselor to the ACLU without pay, or 

any promise of future pay or a paid position, for 10 months.” 

27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 50-51. Because Greenfield performed 

these services “without pay, promise of pay, or promise of 

future employment,” the court held that he had rendered the 
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services gratuitously. Greenfield, 27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 51-52. 

Accordingly, the court ruled, he fell within the exemption for 

nonprofit volunteers under RCW 49.46.010(3)(d).2 Id. 

The Court of Appeals’ unremarkable conclusion does not 

merit review. Greenfield asserts that the court’s decision runs 

contrary to the requirement that the MWA be construed 

liberally. See Pet. 11. But courts do not resort to this canon of 

construction when a statutory provision is unambiguous. City of 

Bellevue v. Raum, 171 Wn. App. 124, 155 n.28, 286 P.3d 695 

(2012). Greenfield quibbles with the Court of Appeals’ use of 

the dictionary to determine the meaning of “gratuitous” (Pet. 

17), but it is well established that when the Legislature has not 

                                           
2 Having determined that Greenfield fell within the 

exemption for nonprofit volunteers, the Court of Appeals made 

no final determination regarding whether an employer-

employee relationship existed for purposes of the exemption’s 

second category of excluded workers. But after analyzing the 

issue, the court explained that, “even assuming Greenfield did 

not provide services gratuitously, his claim of an employment 

relationship still fails under both Anfinson and Benjamin.” 

Greenfield, 27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 52. 
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defined a term, a “court will give the term its plain and ordinary 

meaning ascertained from a standard dictionary.” State v. 

Watson, 146 Wn.2d 947, 956, 51 P.3d 66 (2002). Greenfield 

offers no contrary definition of “gratuitous” that would support 

his claim. See Pet. 1-23.  

The Court of Appeals did not improperly ignore the 

federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), as Greenfield 

suggests. See Pet. 14-16. Rather, as the court correctly 

explained, “Washington courts are not bound by federal cases 

interpreting the FLSA, especially when the MWA departs from 

the FLSA.” Greenfield, 27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 51. A court will 

consider interpretations of FLSA provisions only when there 

are comparable MWA provisions; when state law differs from 

federal law, it will not. See Carranza v. Dovex Fruit Co., 190 

Wn.2d 612, 619-20 n.5, 416 P.3d 1205 (2018).  

Here, because the federal FLSA has no comparable 

exemption for nonprofit volunteers (compare RCW 

49.46.010(3) with 29 U.S.C. § 203(e)), federal decisions 
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interpreting this law provide no helpful guidance. The FLSA 

cannot create an employee under the MWA where the specific 

language of an exemption excludes the individual. In 

addressing Greenfield’s contention that a non-analogous FLSA 

provision should limit the nonprofit volunteer exemption to 

only “specific kinds of nonprofit organizations,” the Court of 

Appeals explained that “the plain language of RCW 

49.46.010(3)(d) does not support Greenfield’s assertion” about 

the exemption’s meaning. Greenfield, 27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 51.  

As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, RCW 

49.46.010(3)(d)’s unambiguous language reflects the 

Legislature’s unmistakable intent to exclude nonprofit 

volunteers from coverage under the MWA. Its routine analysis 

adheres to well established statutory interpretation principles 

and raises no issue of substantial public interest. 
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B. The Court of Appeals’ Decision Does Not Conflict 

With Any Washington Appellate Court Decision  

Greenfield’s insistence that this Court disregard the 

statutory exemption and instead analyze whether he was 

“employed” by the ACLU creates no conflict justifying review. 

See Pet. 12-14, 16-17. As this Court has explained, courts do 

not apply alternative tests for determining employment 

relationships when an MWA exemption plainly controls. 

Rocha, 195 Wn.2d at 423. Thus, the Court in Rocha determined 

that it “need not reach the ‘economic realities test’ because we 

find jurors are exempt from the MWA under its express 

provisions.” Id. Insofar as Greenfield contends that the Court of 

Appeals’ interpretation of the nonprofit volunteer exemption 

conflicts with other Washington appellate decisions that have 

employed different tests for assessing employer-employee 

relationships in other contexts, Rocha forecloses such 

argument.  

Nor does the Court of Appeals’ decision run afoul of any 

other Washington decision. In searching for conflict, Greenfield 
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points to a single decision involving whether double damages 

were available for an employer’s unlawful withholding of 

wages. Pet. 17-18 (citing Durand v. HIMC Corp., 151 Wn. 

App. 818, 214 P.3d 189 (2009)). In assessing whether the 

plaintiff-employee was entitled to double damages and 

attorneys’ fees under RCW 49.52.070, the Durand court noted 

that an “employee is not entitled to such a benefit if he 

‘knowingly submitted to [the employer’s] violations.’” 151 Wn. 

App. at 833. On the other hand, the court explained, “[a]n 

employee does not ‘knowingly submit’ to unlawful withholding 

of wages by staying on the job even after the employer fails to 

pay.” Id. at 836-37. In analyzing these factors, because there 

was no dispute that the employee expected to eventually be 

paid, the court determined that he had not knowingly submitted 

to a wage violation. Id. at 833-34, 836-37. 

The Durand Court’s analysis of willfully withheld wages 

has no application here. In Durand, there was no question the 

worker was an employee, and it was undisputed that he was 
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owed at least some wages by his employer. Durand, 151 Wn. 

App. at 826-27. Thus, the court addressed only the standard for 

determining whether withholding the undisputed wages was 

willful and subject to double damages. Id. at 832-34. The 

question of whether he remained on the job without pay related 

only to this issue. Id.  

By contrast, Greenfield was not an employee. He neither 

sought nor was promised wages during his time volunteering 

for the ACLU. CP 499-505, 1174, 1274-75, 1303, 1307-09, 

1371-74. There were no promised wages to withhold and no 

unlawful withholding to “submit” to under the Durand analysis. 

The length of time Greenfield gratuitously provided his services 

to the ACLU is significant only in so far as it confirms that he 

was not promised pay and did not expect to be paid. The Court 

of Appeals appropriately considered this as evidence of the 

gratuitous nature of Greenfield’s services. See Greenfield, 27 

Wn. App. 2d 28 at 50-51. Nothing in its analysis conflicts with 

Durand. 
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C. Alternative Tests for Unpaid Internships Do Not 

Create a Reviewable Conflict or Issue of Substantial 

Public Interest 

Much of Greenfield’s brief is dedicated to chronicling 

trends in federal law for unpaid internships. Pet. 18-21. But 

these federal tests do not apply when an unambiguous MWA 

exemption controls. Nor is reliance on FLSA-based tests 

appropriate when federal law contains no analogous provision 

for nonprofit volunteers. The Court of Appeals did not err in 

declining to apply Greenfield’s various suggested tests, and its 

decision raises no issue of substantial public interest. 

First, an analysis of Greenfield’s “employment” under an 

intern/trainee test is inappropriate when a specific MWA 

exemption applies. See Rocha, 195 Wn.2d at 423. As discussed 

above, RCW 49.46.010(3)(d)’s plain language for nonprofit 

volunteers applies to Greenfield, so no other test for 

employment—including state or federal internship tests—is 

applicable or appropriate. Rocha is clear that when a MWA 

exemption applies, the analysis ends. Rocha, 195 Wn.2d at 423. 
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Second, the use of a federal test for employment is 

inappropriate where, as here, the terms of the MWA and the 

FLSA differ. See Carranza, 190 Wn.2d at 619-20. Neither the 

FLSA nor its derivative federal internship tests provide any 

helpful guidance when the FLSA contains no comparable 

exemption for nonprofit volunteers. Compare RCW 

49.46.010(3) with 29 U.S.C. § 203(e); see Carranza, 190 

Wn.2d at 619-20. As explained above, the FLSA cannot create 

an employee under the MWA where the specific language of a 

state law exemption excludes the individual.3  

Finally, contrary to Greenfield’s assertion, the Court of 

Appeals’ decision does not conflict with any L&I guidance. See 

                                           
3 In most circumstances, the FLSA does not apply to 

nonprofit and charitable organizations like the ACLU. 29 

U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(A), 206(a), 207(a); CP 1148-49. So even if 

the Court were to look to that law, Greenfield’s time with 

ACLU would not be subject to his proposed federal internship 

tests. See also U.S. Dep’t of Lab., Wage & Hour Div., Fact 

Sheet #14A: Non-Profit Organizations and the Fair Labor 

Standards Act (FLSA) (2015), 

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fact-sheets/14a-flsa-non-

profits.  

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fact-sheets/14a-flsa-non-profits
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fact-sheets/14a-flsa-non-profits
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Pet. 22-23. The L&I policy applicable to nonprofit volunteers is 

ES.A.1. CP 1210, 1213. Under this policy, individuals at 

nonprofits are considered volunteers “when their services are 

offered freely and without pressure or coercion, direct or 

implied, from an employer.” Pol’y ES.A.1 at 3-4. Because the 

Court of Appeals determined that Greenfield offered his 

services without pay, promise of pay, or promise of future 

employment, it concluded he was a volunteer. Greenfield, 27 

Wn. App. 2d 28 at 51-52. Nothing about this analysis is 

inconsistent with L&I’s policy. 

No other L&I policy applies to nonprofit volunteers in 

Washington. Greenfield references an L&I publication about 

unpaid internships, noting its description of a seven-factor test 

for determining if the intern is an employee. See Pet. 22-23 

(citing Unpaid Internships 101, https://www.lni.wa.gov/forms-

publications/F700-173-000.pdf).4 But again, this alternative 

                                           
4 L&I published this document in March 2022, nearly 

two years after it issued the June 2020 determination of 

https://www.lni.wa.gov/forms-publications/F700-173-000.pdf
https://www.lni.wa.gov/forms-publications/F700-173-000.pdf
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employment test does not apply when an individual gratuitously 

offers their services to a nonprofit—the specific exemption at 

issue here. See Rocha 195 Wn.2d at 423. And in any event, as 

the Court of Appeals correctly explained, even if this test did 

apply, its factors showed no employer-employee relationship 

when Greenfield worked without expectation of compensation 

or promise of a job. Greenfield, 27 Wn. App. 2d 28 at 52-54.  

The Court of Appeals properly determined that the MWA 

did not apply to Greenfield’s nonprofit volunteer work, and its 

fact-specific analysis raises no issue of substantial public 

interest. Id. at 54.  

V. CONCLUSION 

Greenfield’s petition raises no issue warranting review. 

Because the Court of Appeals’ analysis raises no issue of 

substantial public interest and conflicts with no Washington 

appellate decision, the Court should deny review. 

                                           

compliance. So for this reason as well, Greenfield’s reliance on 

the publication is improper.